NOV 13 1991

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clerk

RONALD WAYNE CLARK, JR.,

Appellant,

٧.

CASE NO. 77,156

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT, FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR NASSAU COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. MCLAIN #201170 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Procedural Progress of the Case

A Nassau County grand jury returned an indictment on May 1, 1990, charging Ronald Wayne Clark, Jr., with first degree premeditated murder for the shooting death of Charles Carter. (R 824) Clark proceeded to a jury trial on October 31, 1990. (R 912) The jury found him guilty of premeditated murder as charged and returned a specific verdict form for that offense. (R 916). After hearing additional evidence during the penalty phase of the trial, the jury recommended a death sentence on November 20, 1990. (R 938)

Circuit Judge Henry Lee Adams, Jr., adjudged Clark guilty on December 13, 1990 and sentenced him to death. (R 956, 939-951) In support of the sentence, the judge found four aggravating circumstances: (1) the homicide occurred during a robbery; (2) the homicide was committed for pecuniary gain; (3) the homicide was especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel: and (4) the homicide was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. (R 941-947) The judge rejected Clark's abuse as a child and his life-long history of alcohol and drug problems as mitigating factors and found no mitigating circumstances. (R 947-950)

Clark filed his notice of appeal to this court on December 20, 1990. (R 1067) Thereafter, on December 21, 1990, the court filed corrected findings in support of the death sentence which

corrected some clerical errors appearing on pages 9 and 11 of the order. (R 1072-1085)

Facts -- The Prosecution's Case

Thomas Garcia and Raymond Haddock drove to McClean's Swamp Hunting Club in Nassau County on October 30, 1989. (R 234-235, 242) They drove to the entrance road leading into the hunting club property, and Haddock began to unlock the cable that served as a gate across the roadway. (R 235, 242-243) Garcia walked to the woods to the side of the roadway, where he discovered the body of a dead man lying beside a pine tree. (R 235-236, 245-246) The two men looked at the body but did not touch it. (R 238, 245) Garcia also noticed a pool of blood near the cable and four teeth lying in the blood. (R 238-239) Neither of the men disturbed the area, the cable gate or the blood. (R 246) They ran to the highway and obtained assistance in notifying the police. (R 243-244, 237) Deputy Connie Johnson and Detective Charlie Calhoun arrived at the scene, (R 230-232, 249)

Detective Calhoun and a crime scene technician from FDLE, Steve Leary, began the investigation at the scene. (R 249-252, 268-279) Calhoun searched the body for identification, but found none, but he did find a business card from Gator City Cab Company. (R 252) Leary photographed the scene, including the pool of blood near the cable gate across the road. (R 269-274) He also recovered the teeth in the area. (R 274) A shotgun pellet was recovered at the same location. (R 274) Leary also

found a shotgun pellet on the body of the victim. (R 274) Via fingerprints from the victim, Calhoun ultimately identified the victim as Charles Carter. (R 255-257)

Dr. Peter Lipkovik, a forensic pathologist, performed the autopsy on Carter. (R 406-409) He discovered two gunshot wounds, one to the mouth and one to the left upper chest. (R 410, 412) The entrance wound to the mouth involved the lips, upper and lower jaws, and proceeded to the back of the head where it exited just behind the left ear. (R 410) This wound was caused by a large single projectile as would be fired from a shotgun. (R 410) Lipkovik found no pellets in this wound. (R 411) The muzzle of the gun would have been within two to three feet of the victim at the time of the shot. (R 411-412) This wound have caused unconsciousness immediately and death within one to two minutes. (R 412) The second wound to the left upper chest was a grazing type of wound. (R 412) Lipkovik recovered pellets from the wound of .00 size, (R 413) The barrel of the gun would have been within about ten feet, since wadding from the shells were in the wound. (R 413-415) However, there were no powder burns to the skin. (R 414) The wound probably would not have caused unconsciousness and was not immediately life threatening. (R 415) Lipkovik performed a blood alcohol test and concluded that the victim had a reading .28 at the time of death. (R 419) This would be the equivalent of 16 drink units within the last hour of his life. (R 421)

Detective Calhoun testified that the investigation of the homicide stopped until November 29, 1990, when a confidential

informant came forward. (R 257-258) Brian Corbett told Calhoun that he was an eyewitness to the homicide and that Ronald Clark was the perpetrator. (R 259-260) Corbett also provided Calhoun with the name of another witness, David Hatch. (R 260)

Corbett testified at trial. (R 291-349) He knew Ronald Clark, and in fact, had been his roommate for a brief time. (R 300-301) On October 29, 1989, Corbett was driving to Yulee with his cousin and his cousin's wife. (R 301) He saw Clark and David Hatch walking along the road. (R 301-302) Clark had been driving his girl friend's black Camaro and the car was stuck in the ditch. (R 302) Corbett assisted them in pulling the car out of the ditch. (R 302) Then, he accompanied Clark and Hatch in the Camaro. (R 302-303) The three men bought a six-pack of beer in Yulee and drove toward Jacksonville. (R 304) They stopped at a Pizza Hut Restaurant, ate pizza, drank beer and left without paying. (R 305-306) After leaving the restaurant, they went to a neighborhood area where they obtained help in changing a flat tire. (R 306) Clark was driving the Camaro during this time. (R 307) Next, they drove to a fishing boat on which David Hatch worked and lived. (R 307) Charles Carter was on the boat. (R 308) He came up from the sleeping quarters and joined the other three men in drinking beer. (R 308-309)

Corbett also testified about $th\,e$ amount of alcohol consumed that night. (R 325-335) When Corbett first saw Clark and Hatch on the street, they had already been drinking. All three then purchased three six-packs of beer. (R 327) Corbett in a

prior deposition said that he drank about five or six beers and Clark drank about the same number. He also said that Clark was intoxicated when he met him on the road. (R 327) Clark was driving and his driving was fine according to Corbett. (R 327) Corbett said that after they left the Pizza Hut where they drank mare beer, they went to the fishing boat where they continued to drink. He testified that he did not remember Clark drinking any beer on the boat. (R 331) However, on a prior deposition, Corbett said they all drank beer until they ran out. (R 332) He also said that Carter gave Clark \$11 to buy gasoline for the car. (R 333)

The four men decided to drive back to Nassau County to buy more beer. (R 309) Clark was driving, David Hatch was in the front passenger seat, Charles Carter was in the back seat behind Hatch, and Corbett was seated behind the driver's seat. (R 309) They drove to a remote area, and Clark stopped the car at a wooded road with a cable gate crossing. (R 310-311) The four men got out of the car to use the rest room. (R 311) Corbett said he turned around to walk back toward the car when he saw Ronald Clark push David Hatch away, pull up a shotgun from his side and shoot Carter in the chest. (R 312) The shotgun was sawed-off and had no stock. (R 313) At one time, Corbett had owned the gun. (R 324-325) The shotgun was angled from Clark's hip going in an upward direction. (R 313) Corbett said he was shocked and headed for the car. (R 313) Corbett said Clark shot Carter again. (R 314) However, Corbett also said that after the first shot, he got back into the car and

did not see the **second** shot fired; he did not actually **see** who fired the second shot. (R 340) Corbett **also** testified that he did not observe any argument between Carter or Clark during the night. (R 323)

Corbett testified that he was frightened and asked to be taken home. (R 314) Hatch returned to the car after a short time, and Clark returned later. (R 314-315) Clark put the shotgun back in the car between the seat and the console. (R 315) Corbett said that Clark did not appear impaired at the time. (R 317) Clark commented that he thought Corbett was "freaking out" about the shooting. (R 317) Corbett also testified that Clark said something about getting the man's job. (R 317) Clark drove Corbett home and told him not to say anything or he would kill him. (R 318) Corbett saw Clark about two weeks later, and he asked Corbett if he had heard any news about what had happened. (R 319) Corbett told him that he had not, but he showed Clark a newspaper article about the crime. (R 319) Clark said the newspaper article was wrong because he shot the man with a .12 gauge shotgun with a slug, not a highpowered rifle. (R 319)

David Hatch testified for the prosecution. (R 349) Hatch worked on the fishing boat, captained by Al Midyett, as one of the five person crew. (R 358) Hatch had known Clark for twelve to thirteen years. (R 351) The two men partied together frequently, drinking heavily and using marijuana. (R 352-353) In October 1989, there was an opening for a crew member on the boat. (R 353) Clark tried to get the job without success. (R

353) On October 29, 1989, the captain hired Charles Carter. (R 354) Hatch met Carter that day when he came aboard the boat. (R 354) Clark came to the boat around 12:00 that morning to see Hatch, driving his girl friend's Camaro. (R 355) Clark met Carter that morning, and they drank at least one beer together. (R 355-356) Hatch, Clark, and Carter also drove Al Midyett's truck to Carter's motel for Carter to collect his belongings. (R 356-357) Hatch returned Midyett's truck, and Hatch and Clark then left in Clark's girl friend's car. (R 357) They bought beer along the way, a twelve-pack. (R 357-358) Eventually, the car got stuck in a ditch. (R 358) This occurred around 6:00 p.m. (R 358) The two men had consumed all but three or four of the beers at that point. (R 359) They began walking down the road, and Brian Corbett stopped to help them. (R 359-360) Then Corbett, Clark and Hatch began riding together in the Camaro. (R 360-361) Hatch said they bought another six-pack of beer and drank it. (R 360) Next, they drove to the Pizza Hut restaurant and ate pizza and drank a pitcher of beer. (R 361) Later, they returned the fishing boat. (R 361) Carter came from the sleeping quarters, and the four men drank beer. (R 361-362) The four later left in Clark's car and bought more beer. (R 361-364) They drove to a wooded area where Clark pulled the car onto a road which was leading into the **woods** and blocked by a cable gate. (R 365) They got out of the car. (R 365-366) Carter was standing in front of the cable gate and facing Hatch, who was then at the front of the car on the driver's side. (R 366) Clark came from

behind the car, pushed Hatch to the away, and shot Carter. (R 366) Clark pulled the shotgun from his side. (R 367) Hatch was about five or six feet away at the time of the shot. (R 367) Hatch had not seen the gun before that day. (R 367-368) Carter was hit by the blast and fell back over the cable. (R 368) Carter was about ten feet away at the time of the shot. (R 368) Clark reloaded the gun, walked over to Carter, and pulled the trigger again. (R 368-369) Hatch did not know where the second shot hit Carter and did not know if Carter was alive or not at that time. (R 369) He said that Clark was laughing as he went through Carter's pocket and took his wallet and money, eleven dollars. (R 371, 378) Additionally, Clark took a pair of black cowboy boots which Carter was wearing. (R 390) Clark then pulled the body to a ditch and returned to the car. (R 378) He put the gun between the seat and the console. (R 378) They then drove Corbett home. (R 378) Clark told Hatch and Corbett that if they said anything to anybody, he would kill them. (R 371) He allegedly said he killed Carter for his job. Hatch said that Clark said, "I guess I got the job now." (R 371) Hatch believed that Clark had consumed eight to ten beers by that point during the day. (R 371) Hatch admitted he had been drinking, but was not intoxicated at the time. (R 369) He said they had had no hard liquor or drugs that day. (R 372)

Hatch went back to the boat to sleep. (R 372) The next morning, the captain waited for Carter to show $\mathbf{up.}$ (R 372) Hatch did not say anything about Carter to the captain because \mathbf{Clark} was present at the boat. (R 373) Clark tried to get

Hatch to talk to the captain about hiring him. (R 373) Hatch did so because he was scared. (R 373) Hatch also told the jury that he had been arrested for accessory after-the-fact because he denied knowledge of the case earlier. (R 374) He was sentenced to five years in prison. (R 375)

On cross-examination, Hatch said he knew that Carter had money. (R 375) He had loaned Hatch \$20 earlier in the day. (R 376) He also loaned the captain of the boat \$20. (R 376) It was Hatch's idea to bring Carter along with them when they left the boat that night. (R 377) Hatch said he did not notice anything wrong with Clark's driving other than he got stuck on the dirt road. (R 380) However, he did see Clark fidgeting and pulling his hair earlier. (R 380) On an deposition, Hatch said that the car got stuck because "Ronnie was driving crazy" and that the two of them were intoxicated at that point. (R 382) Hatch said they were drinking Budweiser beer on the evening of the shooting. (R 383) He had also been drinking earlier with Captain Midyett. (R 383) After working on the boat, they went inside and continued to drink. (R 383) Clark was with them at that point. (R 383) Hatch denied that he helped bring Carter out to that location in order to get his money. (R 387) He denied having seen the shotgun previously. (R 387)

A former neighbor and friend of Ronald Clark's, Gary
Eugene Moody, testified about a statement Clark allegedly made
to him about the murder. (R 391-400) On February 7, 1990,
Ronald Clark telephoned him and talked about the murder charge
in Nassau County. (R 398) Clark said he shot the man once with

a shotgun, and then after he fell, shot him again. (R 399) He said he shot the man in the chest and the mouth. (R 399) Clark was either in jail or the hospital at the time of the telephone conversation. (R 400)

Facts -- The Defense Case

Ronald Clark testified in his own behalf in support of his voluntary intoxication defense, (R 472) Clark testified that he began drinking alcohol at the age of twelve or thirteen because he was depressed and wanted to forget his problems. (R 474-475) He is the oldest of five children and lived with his father and stepmother. (R 473-474) He also used various illegal drugs -- marijuana, cocaine, acid -- as well as using the various prescription medications he stole from his father -- anti-depressants, pain killers, and muscle relaxers. (R 475) He testified that his father suffers from a mental illness and the medications were prescribed for him. (R 476) Clark testified that got drunk to the point of passing out at least once a week since he was fourteen years old. (R 476) He remembers having alcoholic black outs. (R 477) He described instances of getting drunk and not remembering how he got home. (R 477) On one occasion, he started drinking in Jacksonville and ended up in Georgia doing drugs with no idea how he got there. (R 478) He said that he and David Hatch engaged in heavy drinking and drug use together over the twelve years they had known each other. (R 479) Clark said he knew Brian Corbett for about a year and a half, and they also drank a lot

together. (R 480) Clark said he one time was sent to drug rehabilitation program but did stay there. (R 480) He was imprisoned **and was** to receive psychiatric help on another occasion but did not receive it. (R 480) His stepmother took him to the Baptist Hospital one time for treatment, but he was refused to admit him, as did **the** University Hospital. (R 480-481)

In October of 1989, Clark said he was following his customary drinking habits. (R 481) On October 29, 1989, he awoke between 8:00 and 9:00 in the morning in the shelter in the woods behind his father's house where he lived. (R 481-482) He went to the Hall's Country Store and got a pack of Budweiser beer. He smoked crack cocaine and took various pills, which had been prescribed for his father, before he left home. (R 482) Clark went to his former boss's house and drank the sixpack of Budweiser beer. (R 483) He then drove to the fishing boat to see David Hatch. (R 484) He drank three or four beers with Hatch by 10:00 or 11:00 in the morning. (R 484) They went to a bar, and Clark drank a daiquiri and two or three beers. (R 484-485) He and Hatch then drove back to Nassau County to buy more beer, a twelve-pack of Budweiser. (R 485-486) They began driving and drinking. (R 486) Clark and Hatch consumed the twelve-pack of beer while driving around. (R 486) He said the two of them then went to a Jiffy Store and stole a case of beer. (R 487) Just before consuming the case of beer, Clark got the Camaro stuck in the sand. (R 488) After Clark met with Brian Corbett, the three men then bought more beer, three

twelve-packs of Budweiser. (R 489) They drove to the Pizza Hut, ordered two pizzas and two pitchers of beer. (R 490-491) Clark said he was intoxicated at that point, (R 491) He had also taken more pills. (R 491) As he drove away from the Pizza Hut, he damaged a back wheel of the car. (R 491-492) He had to have someone change the tire for him. (R 492) They drove back to the boat and started drinking again, (R 492) Clark said he was drunk and about to pass out. (R 492) He said he did not remember Charles Carter coming up from the sleeping quarters to drink. (R 493) He said he did not dislike Charles Carter and did not even remember seeing him that night. (R 493) Clark testified that he did not want the job on the fishing boat. (R 493) He said he was interested in the job at first, but then found out that the boat stayed out six or seven days at a time. (R 494) Says he remembers waking up the next morning in the yard of his father's house. (R 494) His girl friend's car was parked in the yard. (R 495) There was a shotgun hole in the floorboard of the car. (R 495) Clark testified he did not remember any shooting incident that night. (R 498) When questioned on cross-examination about the statement he allegedly made to Gary Moody, Clark said that he was merely explaining what he was charged with, not that he had done the shooting. (R 498-499) He denied going to the fishing boat the day after the shooting and asking for a job. (R 502)

Clark's stepmother, Francis Clark, testified about his childhood; he was five-years-old when she married his father in 1975. (R 437-438) Clark began using alcohol when he was

thirteen or fourteen. (R 438-439) She observed him several hundred times while under the influence of alcohol or drugs. (R 441) Alcohol changed his behavior so that he appeared as if he had no feelings for anyone. (R 442) He would occasionally go off with friends to drink and come back three to five days later. (R 442) He was permanently suspended from school. (R 442) His father was hospitalized in the psychiatric ward of Baptist Hospital at the time of trial. (R 442-443) At various times, he had prescription medications at home where his son could obtain them. (R 443) Clark would take his father's antidepressants and other medication. (R 443) Mrs. Clark made efforts to get treatment for her stepson, but because they had no insurance, she was unable to secure it. (R 444-445)

A psychologist, Dr. Manual N. Chaknis, examined Clark on February 4, 1986, when he was seventeen years old. (R 450-451) Chaknis described the family history of Clark's childhood. (R 452) His parents divorced when he was about five years old. (R 452) He moved back and forth between residences staying one to one and a half years at a time. (R 452) Ronald himself remembered nothing of the time when his parents lived together. (R 452) He viewed his mother in dramatic extremes. (R 453) On the one hand, he saw her as a loving woman who took him places and did things with him, and on the other hand, he saw her as evil. (R 453) Painful experiences in his life caused him to view her as threatening. (R 453) Once she left a gun on the bed, which he interpreted to be a gesture of her desire that he commit suicide. (R 453) His father had a history of medical

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