### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SURREME COURT

FEB 17 1992

By. Chief Deputy Clerk

RONALD WAYNE CLARK, JR.,

Appellant,

CASE NO. 77,156

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR NASSAU COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN M. SNURKOWSKI Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 158541

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

Where there are different predicates for the pecuniary gain and the commission of the murder during the course of a robbery aggravating factors, both may exist without an improper doubling. Echols v. State, 484 So.2d 568 (Fla.1986).

Terminally, even assuming for the moment, one of the aggravating factors is found not to be proven beyond a reasonable doubt, death is the appropriate sentence, sub judice. See Capehart v. State, 583 So.2d 1009 (Fla.1991); Herring v. State, 580 So.2d 135 (Fla.1991); Shere v. State, 579 So.2d 86 (Fla.1991); Green v. State, 583 So.2d 647 (Fla.1991); Holton v. State, 573 So.2d 284 (Fla.1990) and **Rogers** v. State, 511 So.2d 526 (Fla.1987).

Based on the forgoing, all relief should be denied Clark as to this claim.

#### ARGUMENT: POINT II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND NONSTATUTORY MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES SINCE EVIDENCE ESTABLISHING THEM WAS UNREFUTED.

The trial court found that none of the statutory mitigating factors existed and as to nonstatutory mitigating factors the court noted:

There is no doubt from the record that the defendant led a hard and difficult life. His early childhood experiences of being abused by his mother's lesbian lover or having to witness physical abuse and violence between his parents was unfortunate. However, there is nothing in this background that would serve to mitigate the murder herein.

The court concludes that is clear from a reasoned weighing of the above findings that there exist four (4) statutory aggravating circumstances, and no factors than can be even remotely argued in mitigation.

# (R 950)

Clark argues that mitigation was presented in the form of Clark's abusive childhood, alcoholism and drug abuse. He asserts that the state did not refute this evidence and that the trial court erred in not finding this evidence in mitigation. Citing **Campbell v. State, 571 So.2d** 415 (Fla.1990) and Nibert v. State, 574 So.2d 1059 (Fla.1990) he contends that "the judge in this case did not properly fulfill the sentencing responsibilities in regard to the finding of mitigating circumstances. His

without weighing the mitigating circumstances present." (Appellant'sBrief, p. 31).

As evidenced by the recital of the facts, it is clear the trial court considered evidence in "mitigation" but gave said evidence little weight. This court in Campbell, supra, and Nibert, supra, merely found that once "some" mitigation is presented, the court cannot out of hand reject it unless said evidence is specifically refuted by the record. In the instant case, the trial court acknowledged that Clark had an abusive childhood, that he was an alcoholic and a drug abuser. However, the court suggested that those factors did not mitigate against the nature of the crime committed.

For example, the fact that Clark was an alcoholic, was not mitigation as to this crime, because, Clark said he had imbibed extensively the day of the murder yet after drinking countless numbers of beers, he was still able to drive normally and 'recall everything that happened until he conveniently had an alcoholic blackout. Doctors testified that even though Clark may have suffered an alcoholic blackout, he would have known what he was doing at the time but simply could not recall the events. Clark said he did not think he killed Carter, but if he did he did not remember and he did not know why he did it. Certainly the fact that Clark got drunk every day did not mitigate against conduct the day in question which apparently was like every other day in his life as it related to his imbibing. The record further reflects that Dr. Macaluso, Dr. Miller, Dr. Barnard and Dr. Chaknis all relied on Clark's background based on what Clark told

them. As to each, in particular Dr. Miller and Dr. Barnard, it is quite Clark was not truthful with them in that he indicated he had an alcoholic blackout much earlier in the day then what he testified to at trial. All the doctors noted that one does not recover one's memory after an alcoholic blackout. Clark took the stand and testified that he suffered his alcoholic blackout after he returned to the shrimp boat sometime after 6:00 p.m. on October 29, 1989 and he did not recall seeing Carter after that. He testified that the next day he did show up at the Bloody Mary and was hired on by the captain to go out on the boat when Carter did not show up. (R 493-495, 501-503). Dr. Macaluso testified that he was confident Clark suffered from alcoholic blackouts based on what Clark told him and the fact that Clark said during their interview that he had a blackout right after lunch. ( R He told Dr. Barnard that he could not remember 565-566). anything after he first went to Jackie's Seafood and ran into Hatch and then they went to a lounge and had tequila. (R 586-He told Dr. Barnard that his next memory was several days 587). later when he woke up in Georgia and he asked a woman where he (R 587). At the penalty phase, Clark called Dr. Barnard as was. his own witness who testified that although Clark suffers from some memory difficulties due to his "past blackouts, especially that he could not recall the events surrounding crime, Clark was not a severely depressed individual and although he had a history of drug and alcohol abuse, Dr. Barnard could not say what degree, if any, Clark's ability to appreciate his conduct was impaired." (R 739, 742-743). Dr. Barnard admitted that Clark was less than

truthful to him when he was interviewed and it was his view that the jury would have had a hard time knowing what to believe about Clark. (R 745-746). He concluded that Clark had no thought disorders nor delusions nor emotional or mental disturbance. (R 748). There was no substantial impairment of his thought processes and he fully appreciated what he was doing and why. (R 743, 748).

In light of the forgoing, trial court did not err in assigning little weight if any to these factors.

See e.g., Kokal v. State, 492 So.2d 1317 (Fla, 1986) and Cooper v. State, 492 So.2d 1059 (Fla. 1986).

Assuming for the moment, this court finds that the trial court erred in not giving "any" weight to the nonstatutory mitigating circumstances, the state would submit that the .instant order was rendered the day Campbell, supra became final. If anything, based on the nature of the mitigations herein, any error by the trial court in his order is harmless error. See Wickham v. State, supra; Valle v. State, 581 So.2d 40 (Fla.1991) and Cooke v. State, 581 So.2d 141 (Fla.1991). Based on the foregoing, the state would urge this court to affirm the trial court's order finding that the mitigation did not outweigh the aggravation.

#### ARGUMENT: POINT III

## WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SENTENCING CLARK TO DEATH SINCE THE SENTENCE IS DISPROPORTIONATE.

"a premeditated murder during Clark arques that the commission of another felony, without any additional aggravation, simply does not qualify for a death sentence when compared to similar cases." (Appellant's Brief, **p.** 32). He argues that because at least three of the statutory aggravating factors were inappropriate and because the trial court failed to properly consider nonstatutory mitigation, death is inappropriate. Proffitt v. State, 510 So.2d 896 (Fla.1987); Caruthers v. State, 465 So.2d 496 (Fla.1985); Rembert v. State, 445 So.2d 337 (Fla.1984) and Richardson v. State, 437 So.2d 1091 (Fla.1983), Unfortunately for Clark, the circumstances, sub judice, reflect that all four statutory aggravating factors were validly found. "Any" nonstatutory mitigating evidence did not negate the aggravation presented. The instant case is not like Menendez v. State, 419 So.2d 312 (Fla.1982) where only one aggravating circumstance existed or Holswroth v. State, 522 So.2d 348 (Fla.1988) a jury override case.

While there **does** not appear to be another case with similar facts that a defendant kills a victim to get his fishing job, this court has held that murders committed during the course for robbery or for pecuniary gain which are cold, calculated and premeditated and likely heinous, atrocious and cruel are death **cases**. See Hayes v. State, 581 So.2d 121 (Fla.1990); Young v. State, 579 So.2d 721; Hamblen v. State, 527 So.2d 800 (Fla.1988);

Hargrave v. State, 366 So.2d 1 (Fla.1978) and Rogers v. State, 511 So.2d 526 (Fla.1987). Clearly, the instant case falls into those categories of cases where death is appropriate and thus proportionate to cases of like kind.

### ARGUMENT: POINT IV

WHETHER FUNDAMENTAL ERROR HAS BEEN DEMONSTRATED IN REGARD то THE PROSECUTOR 'S CLOSING ARGUMENT AT THE PENALTY PHASE OR THE JURY THE INSTRUCTION ON HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS OR CRUEL AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE.

Clark next claims that his sentence of death must be reversed, due to, inter alia, a portion of the prosecutor's closing argument at the penalty phase and an allegedly unconstitutional jury instruction as to the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating circumstance. He also contends that it was error, as a matter of law, for the court to even instruct on this aggravating circumstance, in that the evidence simply did not support it. Appellee has already presented its argument in regard to the applicability of this aggravating circumstance, and will not repeat them at this juncture. See Point I, supra. Appellee would point out, however, that such cases as Omelus v. State, 584 So.2d 563 (Fla.1991)(not the murderer, hired the killer) or Jones v. State, 569 So.2d 1234 (Fla.1990) (not heinous, atrocious or cruel to commit sexual battery on corpse), are distinguishable, and that, even should this court disagree as to the factual basis for finding of this the aggravating circumstance, there was sufficient evidence before the jury to present a question for their determination. Cf. Haliburton v.

state, 561 So.2d 248, 252 (Fla.1990). As to the other claims raised - in regard to the prosecutor's closing argument and constitutionality of the jury instruction - Appellee respectfully submits that these claims are not preserved for review.

In regard to the prosecutor's closing argument, Clark complains, for the first time, that the prasecutor's reference to the fact that he laughed after killing the victim was an improper reference to Clark's lack of remorse (Initial Brief at 37-39). The record, however, indicates that no contemporaneous objection was interposed in regard to this argument (R 765-780). This court has consistently held that, even in capital cases, a contemporaneous objection is necessary to preserve for review claims involving prosecutorial argument. See e.q., Teffeteller v. State, 495 So.2d 744 (Fla.1986); Hoffman v. State, 474 So.2d 1178 (Fla.1985); Burr V. State, 466 So.2d 1051 (Fla.1985); Rose v. State, 461 So.2d 84 (Fla.1984); Davis v. State, 461 So.2d 67 (Fla.1984). Accordingly, this claim is waived, and would simply note that Clark's reliance upon Hill v. State, 549 So.2d 179 (Fla.1989), is misplaced, inasmuch as, in such case, the claim To the extent that this court was preserved for review. disagrees, Appellee would simply note that error has not been demonstrated. Clark's belief that the prosecutor's remarks referred to a lack of remorse on the part of Clark is simply supposition on his part; the state suggest that no reasonable listening to these remarks, would have drawn juror, such conclusion. Further, the prosecutor's reference to the fact that Clark's laughed after he had slain the victim, and as he was

stealing his personal belongings, would not seem to be improper. Cf. State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1, 9 (Fla.1973) ("cruel" portion of this aggravating circumstance includes a defendant's "enjoyment" of suffering of others, and relates to a ''conscienceless"crime).

In regard to the constitutionality of the jury instruction, Appellee likewise contends that this claim 'has been waived. Prior to trial, Clark filed a boiler-plate motion attacking the constitutionality of both this aggravating circumstance, as well as that involving the homicide having been committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner (R 867); the motion made no specific attack upon the jury instructions (R 867). Although the motion was called up for a hearing on September 20, 1990, the court deferred ruling upon it, at the request of defense counsel It would not appear that motion was ever formally (R 34). renewed at trial. During the penalty phase, defense counsel did, indeed, object to the jury being instructed on this aggravating circumstance (R 759-761). He did so, however, only due to the fact that he felt that the evidence did not support it, and no contention was ever made that the jury instruction per se was unconstitutionally vague (R 759-761).

This court has consistently held that, in order for a claim of error to be presented on appeal, it must be the specific contention asserted in the court below. See Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla.1982); Bertolotti v. State, 565 So.2d 1343, 1345 (Fla.1990). This principle applies to constitutional challenges as well. See e.g., Ventura v. State, 560 So.2d 217, 221 (Fla.1990) (constitutional challenge not presented to the

circuit court, improperly raised on appeal); Swafford v. State, 533 So.2d 210 (Fla.1988). Indeed, this court has held that this identical claim - that the jury instructions on heinous, atrocious and cruel violate Maynard v. Cartwright, 486 U.S. 356, 108 S.Ct. 1853, 100 L.Ed.2d 372 (1988) - is improperly presented, when raised for the first time on collateral motion, in the absence of contemporaneous objection. See e.g., Jennings v. State, 583 So.2d 316, 322 (Fla.1991); Swafford v. Dugger, 569 So.2d 1264 (Fla.1990); Roberts V. State, 568 So,2d 1255 (Fla.1990). Thus, this claim is waived, because it was never presented to the court below; even if it could be said that Clark's original motion to strike this aggravating circumstance had embraced this argument, he waived this claim by failing to secure ruling upon that motion. See e.g., State v. Barber, 301 So.2d 7, 9 (Fla.1974) (appellate court must confine itself to ruling upon questions which were before the trial court and upon which a ruling adverse to the appealing party was made); Oliva v. State, 354 So.2d 1264 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1978). To the extent that this court disagrees, Appellee would simply note that this court has previously rejected this argument on the merits. See e.g., Beltran-Lopez v. State, 583 So.2d 1030 (Fla.1991); Espinosa v. State, 16 F.L.W. S753 (Fla. Nov. 27, 1991); Smalley v. State, 546 So.2d 720 (Fla.1989). No relief is warranted as to this procedurally barred claim.

### ARGUMENT: POINT V

WHETHER FUNDAMENTAL ERROR HAS BEEN DEMONSTRATED IN REGARD TO FLORIDA'S STANDARD JURY INSTRUCTIONS AT THE PENALTY PHASE.

As his final attack upon his sentence of death, Clark contends that Florida's standard jury instructions at the penalty phase violate Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320, 105 S.Ct. 2633, 86 L.Ed.2d 231 (1985), in that they allegedly improperly diminished the jury's sense of responsibility at sentencing. Appellee would initially contend that this claim is procedurally barred, in that no contemporaneous objection was interposed in regard to the standard jury instructions, on this basis, in the court below (R 790-796). This court has consistently held that claims of this nature must be preserved through contemporaneous objection, prior to presentation on direct appeal. See e.q., Sochor v. State, 580 So.2d 595, 603 (Fla.1991) (claim that standard jury instructions violate Caldwell not preserved for review, in absence of contemporaneous objection); Carter v. State, 576 So.2d 1291, 1293 (Fla.1989); Gunsby v. State, 574 So.2d 1085, 1090 (Fla.1991); Reed v. State, 560 So.2d 203, 206 (Fla.1990); Jackson v. State, 522 So.2d 802, 809 (Fla.1988). Accordingly, this claim is waived. To the extent that this court disagrees, Appellee would simply note that this court has consistently rejected this claim on the merits. See e.g., Combs v. State, 525 So.2d 853 (Fla.1988); Grossman v. State, 525 So.2d 833 (Fla.1988). Further, it is particularly unlikely that the jury in this case was mislead as to the importance of its sentencing recommendation. During voir dire, both the judge and

defense counsel assured the prospective jurors that their recommendation would be entitled to great weight (R 92, 189); subsequently, during closing arguments at the penalty phase, both the prosecutor and defense counsel told the jury that their recommendation was critical and entitled to great weight (R 767, 781). Cf. Harich v. Dugger, 844 F.2d 1464 (11th Cir.1988). No relief is warranted as to this procedurally barred claim.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, judgment and sentence of death must be affirmed.